
 

City of Sandy 

Agenda 

City Council Meeting 

Meeting Location: City Hall- Council Chambers, 
39250 Pioneer Blvd., Sandy, Oregon 97055 

Meeting Date: Monday, November 19, 2018  

Meeting Time: 7:00 PM 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 

 

 1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

   

 

 2. ROLL CALL 

   

 

 3. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 

   

 

 4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

   

 

 5. ORDINANCES 

   
 
 5.1. Amending Sandy Municipal Code 8.35.010 

 

Approve the changes amending section 8.35.010 by "Make a motion to approve 
ordinance 2018-30, an ordinance amending section 8.35.010 of the Sandy Municipal 
Code as shown in exhibit A.  
Ordinance 2018-03 - Amending Sandy Municipal Code 8.35.010 - Pdf 

3 - 44 

 

 6. NEW BUSINESS 

   
 
 6.1. Council Rules - Updates 

 

Motion to amend Council Rules presented.  
Council Rules Update - Pdf 

45 - 71 

 

 7. REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

   

 

 8. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

   

 

Page 1 of 71



 
 9. COUNCIL REPORTS 

   

 

 10. STAFF UPDATES 

   
 
 10.1. Monthly Reports   

 

 11. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

   
 
 11.1. Executive Session Persuant to ORS 192.660(2)(a)   

 

 12. ADJOURN 

   

 

Page 2 of 71

http://staffreports.cityofsandy.com/


 

Staff Report 

 

Meeting Date: November 19, 2018 

From Kim Yamashita, City Manager 

SUBJECT: Ordinance 2018-03 - Amending Sandy Municipal Code 8.35.010 
 
Background: 
On September 4, 2018 the United States of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Court rendered 
an opinion on a case called Martin et al v. City of Boise. This was a Civil Rights case 
regarding an City of Boise Ordinance regarding camping in public right of way.  The 
plaintiff asserted that the ordinance violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on 
cruel and unusual punishment.  The courts findings in this mater was evaluated by staff 
and our legal counsel.  Recommendations for amending our "Camping Prohibited" code 
(8.35.010) were made and the code revisions are brought before council for review and 
approval. 
 
Recommendation: 
Approve the changes amending section 8.35.010 by "Make a motion to approve 
ordinance 2018-30, an ordinance amending section 8.35.010 of the Sandy Municipal 
Code as shown in exhibit A. 
 
Code Analysis: 
The consensus is that the Boise case is applicable if both: (1) criminal sanctions are imposed as 
a result of violating a camping ordinance; and (2) no alternative shelter is available for the 
homeless.  Thus, if an ordinance does not impose criminal sanctions on a person who violates 
the ordinance, enforcement would appear to be outside the holding in the Boise case and not 
violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment.  
  
Under Sandy’s code, it is not clear whether a person who violates the ordinance would be 
subject to a criminal sanction or a civil sanction.  SMC 8.35.010 itself is silent on what the 
penalty is for violating the city’s prohibition on camping.  Thus, we look to SMC Chapter 1 for 
guidance.  Specifically, SMC 1.16.010 and 1.18.010. 
  
SMC 1.16.010 states that “unless otherwise specifically provided, any person violating any 
provisions or failing to comply with any of the ordinances of the city is guilty of a 
misdemeanor.” 
  
SMC 1.18.010 establishes a civil infraction procedure “for the purpose of decriminalizing 
penalties for violations of certain civil ordinances . . .”  SMC 1.18.020(A) goes on to define an 
infraction as “an offense against the city in the form of a violation of any provision of the Sandy 

Page 3 of 71



Municipal Code which provides no specific penalty or provides a penalty other than 
imprisonment.” 
  
Other sections of SMC Chapter 8 specifically provide that a person who violates those sections 
is subject to an infraction pursuant to SMC Chapter 1.18.  For example, SMC 8.28.010 states 
that anyone who violates “any of the provisions of Chapters 8.04 through 8.24 shall, upon 
conviction thereof, be guilty of a Class A infraction and subject to the penalties provided in 
Chapter 1.18.” 
  
Because SMC 1.16.010 states that a person who violates any of the city’s ordinances is guilty of 
a misdemeanor “unless otherwise specifically provided” in the ordinance or code section at 
issue and because SMC 8.35.010 is silent on a penalty, it is very possible that a violation of the 
city’s camping prohibitions could result in the imposition of a misdemeanor, which is a criminal 
sanction. 
  
  
  
 
Budgetary Impact: 
None 

Page 4 of 71



 #Ordinance 2018-30 

 

 NO. Ordinance 2018-30  

 

 

Amendment regarding illegal camping necessary due to a 9th Circuit court ruling as of 9-4-18. 

 

Whereas,  the State of Oregon, County of Clackamas, City of Sandy is subject to the effects of 
decision made by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals; 

  

Whereas,  the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals heard and issued an opinion on  Martin v. City of 
Boise on September 4, 2018 having effect on the City of Sandy; 

  

Whereas, the ruling requires amendments to Chapter 8 of the Sandy Municipal Code; 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SANDY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS,  

  

Section 1: has adopted changes as indicated with strike through's (removed content) and bold 
text (new content) as shown in the attachment labeled Exhibit "A". 

  

  

Exhibit A - 

Chapter 8.35 CAMPING PROHIBITED 8.35.010 Camping Prohibited.  

(A) It is unlawful to camp in or upon any sidewalk, street, alley, lane, public right-of-way, public 
park or any other place to which the general public has access.  

(B) “To camp” is defined as setting up or remaining at a campsite.  

(C) “Campsite” is defined as any place where any bedding, sleeping bag or other sleeping 
matter, or any stove, or fire is placed, established or maintained, whether or not such a place 
incorporates the use of any tent, lean-to, shack or any other structure, or any vehicle or part 
thereof, for the purpose of maintaining a temporary place to live.  

(D) It shall be an affirmative defense to this section that the individual charged had written 
consent of the person or other authority owning or entitled to possession of the location where 
the campsite was located. (Ordinance 2008-08 §1, 2008) 

(E) Violation of Sandy Municipal Code 8.35.010 - “Camping Prohibited” is a Class B Violation 
and is subject to the penalties provided in Chapter 1.18. (Ordinance 2018-30 §1, 2018) 

  

  

 

This ordinance is adopted by the Common Council of the City of Sandy and approved by the 
Mayor this 19 day of November 2018 

 

 

Page 5 of 71



 #Ordinance 2018-30 

 

 

 
____________________________________ 

William King, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 
____________________________________ 

Karey Milne, City Recorder  

Page 6 of 71



FOR PUBLICATION

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

ROBERT MARTIN; LAWRENCE LEE

SMITH; ROBERT ANDERSON; JANET

F. BELL; PAMELA S. HAWKES; and
BASIL E. HUMPHREY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

CITY OF BOISE,
Defendant-Appellee.

No. 15-35845

D.C. No.
1:09-cv-00540-

REB

OPINION

Appeal from the United States District Court
for the District of Idaho

Ronald E. Bush, Chief Magistrate Judge, Presiding

Argued and Submitted July 13, 2017
Portland, Oregon

Filed September 4, 2018

Before: Marsha S. Berzon, Paul J. Watford,
and John B. Owens, Circuit Judges.

Opinion by Judge Berzon;
Partial Concurrence and Partial Dissent by Judge Owens

Page 7 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE2

SUMMARY*

Civil Rights

The panel affirmed in part and reversed in part the district
court’s summary judgment in an action brought by six current
or formerly homeless City of Boise residents who alleged that
their citations under the City’s Camping and Disorderly
Conduct Ordinances violated the Eighth Amendment’s
prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment.

Plaintiffs sought damages for the alleged violations under
42 U.S.C. § 1983.  Two plaintiffs also sought prospective
declaratory and injunctive relief precluding future
enforcement of the ordinances.  In 2014, after this litigation
began, the ordinances were amended to prohibit their
enforcement against any homeless person on public property
on any night when no shelter had an available overnight
space.

The panel first held that two plaintiffs had standing to
pursue prospective relief because they demonstrated a
genuine issue of material fact as to whether they faced a
credible risk of prosecution on a night when they had been
denied access to the City’s shelters.  The panel noted that
although the 2014 amendment precluded the City from
enforcing the ordinances when shelters were full, individuals
could still be turned away for reasons other than shelter
capacity, such as for exceeding the shelter’s stay limits, or for

* This summary constitutes no part of the opinion of the court.  It has
been prepared by court staff for the convenience of the reader.

Page 8 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 3

failing to take part in a shelter’s mandatory religious
programs.

The panel held that although the doctrine set forth in Heck
v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477 (1994) and its progeny precluded
most — but not all — of the plaintiffs’ requests for
retrospective relief, the doctrine had no application to
plaintiffs’ request for an injunction enjoining prospective
enforcement of the ordinances.  

Turning to the merits, the panel held that the Cruel and
Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment
precluded the enforcement of a statute prohibiting sleeping
outside against homeless individuals with no access to
alternative shelter.  The panel held that, as long as there is no
option of sleeping indoors, the government cannot criminalize
indigent, homeless people for sleeping outdoors, on public
property, on the false premise they had a choice in the matter.

Concurring in part and dissenting in part, Judge Owens
disagreed with the majority’s opinion that Heck v. Humphrey
did not bar plaintiffs’ claim for declaratory and injunctive
relief.  Judge Owens stated that a declaration that the city
ordinances are unconstitutional and an injunction against their
future enforcement would necessarily demonstrate the
invalidity of plaintiffs’ prior convictions.  Judge Owens
otherwise joined the majority in full.  

Page 9 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE4

COUNSEL

Michael E. Bern (argued) and Kimberly Leefatt, Latham &
Watkins LLP, Washington, D.C.; Howard A. Belodoff, Idaho
Legal Aid Services Inc., Boise, Idaho; Eric Tars, National
Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, Washington, D.C.;
Plaintiffs-Appellants.

Brady J. Hall (argued), Michael W. Moore, and Steven R.
Kraft, Moore Elia Kraft & Hall LLP, Boise, Idaho; Scott B.
Muir, Deputy City Attorney; Robert B. Luce, City Attorney;
City Attorney’s Office, Boise, Idaho; for Defendant-
Appellee.

OPINION

BERZON, Circuit Judge:

“The law, in its majestic equality, forbids rich
and poor alike to sleep under bridges, to beg
in the streets, and to steal their bread.”

— Anatole France, The Red Lily

We consider whether the Eighth Amendment’s
prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment bars a city from
prosecuting people criminally for sleeping outside on public
property when those people have no home or other shelter to
go to.  We conclude that it does.

The plaintiffs-appellants are six current or former
residents of the City of Boise (“the City”), who are homeless
or have recently been homeless.  Each plaintiff alleges that,

Page 10 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 5

between 2007 and 2009, he or she was cited by Boise police
for violating one or both of two city ordinances.  The first,
Boise City Code § 9-10-02 (the “Camping Ordinance”),
makes it a misdemeanor to use “any of the streets, sidewalks,
parks, or public places as a camping place at any time.”  The
Camping Ordinance defines “camping” as “the use of public
property as a temporary or permanent place of dwelling,
lodging, or residence.”  Id.  The second, Boise City Code § 6-
01-05 (the “Disorderly Conduct Ordinance”), bans
“[o]ccupying, lodging, or sleeping in any building, structure,
or public place, whether public or private . . . without the
permission of the owner or person entitled to possession or in
control thereof.”

All plaintiffs seek retrospective relief for their previous
citations under the ordinances.  Two of the plaintiffs, Robert
Anderson and Robert Martin, allege that they expect to be
cited under the ordinances again in the future and seek
declaratory and injunctive relief against future prosecution.

In Jones v. City of Los Angeles, 444 F.3d 1118, 1138 (9th
Cir. 2006), vacated, 505 F.3d 1006 (9th Cir. 2007), a panel of
this court concluded that “so long as there is a greater number
of homeless individuals in Los Angeles than the number of
available beds [in shelters]” for the homeless, Los Angeles
could not enforce a similar ordinance against homeless
individuals “for involuntarily sitting, lying, and sleeping in
public.”  Jones is not binding on us, as there was an
underlying settlement between the parties and our opinion
was vacated as a result.  We agree with Jones’s reasoning and
central conclusion, however, and so hold that an ordinance
violates the Eighth Amendment insofar as it imposes criminal
sanctions against homeless individuals for sleeping outdoors,
on public property, when no alternative shelter is available to

Page 11 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE6

them.  Two of the plaintiffs, we further hold, may be entitled
to retrospective and prospective relief for violation of that
Eighth Amendment right.

I. Background

The district court granted summary judgment to the City
on all claims.  We therefore review the record in the light
most favorable to the plaintiffs.  Tolan v. Cotton, 134 S. Ct.
1861, 1866 (2014).

Boise has a significant and increasing homeless
population.  According to the Point-in-Time Count (“PIT
Count”) conducted by the Idaho Housing and Finance
Association, there were 753 homeless individuals in Ada
County — the county of which Boise is the seat — in January
2014, 46 of whom were “unsheltered,” or living in places
unsuited to human habitation such as parks or sidewalks.  In
2016, the last year for which data is available, there were
867 homeless individuals counted in Ada County, 125 of
whom were unsheltered.1  The PIT Count likely
underestimates the number of homeless individuals in Ada

1 The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development
(“HUD”) requires local homeless assistance and prevention networks to
conduct an annual count of homeless individuals on one night each
January, known as the PIT Count, as a condition of receiving federal
funds.  State, local, and federal governmental entities, as well as private
service providers, rely on the PIT Count as a “critical source of data” on
homelessness in the United States.  The parties acknowledge that the PIT
Count is not always precise.  The City’s Director of Community
Partnerships, Diana Lachiondo, testified that the PIT Count is “not always
the . . . best resource for numbers,” but also stated that “the point-in-time
count is our best snapshot” for counting the number of homeless
individuals in a particular region, and that she “cannot give . . . any other
number with any kind of confidence.”

Page 12 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 7

County.  It is “widely recognized that a one-night point in
time count will undercount the homeless population,” as
many homeless individuals may have access to temporary
housing on a given night, and as weather conditions may
affect the number of available volunteers and the number of
homeless people staying at shelters or accessing services on
the night of the count.

There are currently three homeless shelters in the City of
Boise offering emergency shelter services, all run by private,
nonprofit organizations.  As far as the record reveals, these
three shelters are the only shelters in Ada County.

One shelter — “Sanctuary” — is operated by Interfaith
Sanctuary Housing Services, Inc.  The shelter is open to men,
women, and children of all faiths, and does not impose any
religious requirements on its residents.  Sanctuary has 96 beds
reserved for individual men and women, with several
additional beds reserved for families.  The shelter uses floor
mats when it reaches capacity with beds.

Because of its limited capacity, Sanctuary frequently has
to turn away homeless people seeking shelter.  In 2010,
Sanctuary reached full capacity in the men’s area “at least
half of every month,” and the women’s area reached capacity
“almost every night of the week.”  In 2014, the shelter
reported that it was full for men, women, or both on 38% of
nights.  Sanctuary provides beds first to people who spent the
previous night at Sanctuary.  At 9:00 pm each night, it allots
any remaining beds to those who added their names to the
shelter’s waiting list.

The other two shelters in Boise are both operated by the
Boise Rescue Mission (“BRM”), a Christian nonprofit

Page 13 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE8

organization.  One of those shelters, the River of Life Rescue
Mission (“River of Life”), is open exclusively to men; the
other, the City Light Home for Women and Children (“City
Light”), shelters women and children only.

BRM’s facilities provide two primary “programs” for the
homeless, the Emergency Services Program and the New Life
Discipleship Program.2  The Emergency Services Program
provides temporary shelter, food, and clothing to anyone in
need.  Christian religious services are offered to those seeking
shelter through the Emergency Services Program.  The
shelters display messages and iconography on the walls, and
the intake form for emergency shelter guests includes a
religious message.3

Homeless individuals may check in to either BRM facility
between 4:00 and 5:30 pm.  Those who arrive at BRM
facilities between 5:30 and 8:00 pm may be denied shelter,
depending on the reason for their late arrival; generally,
anyone arriving after 8:00 pm is denied shelter.

Except in winter, male guests in the Emergency Services
Program may stay at River of Life for up to 17 consecutive
nights; women and children in the Emergency Services
Program may stay at City Light for up to 30 consecutive

2 The record suggests that BRM provides some limited additional
non-emergency shelter programming which, like the Discipleship
Program, has overtly religious components.

3 The intake form states in relevant part that “We are a Gospel Rescue
Mission.  Gospel means ‘Good News,’ and the Good News is that Jesus
saves us from sin past, present, and future.  We would like to share the
Good News with you.  Have you heard of Jesus? . . . Would you like to
know more about him?”

Page 14 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 9

nights.  After the time limit is reached, homeless individuals
who do not join the Discipleship Program may not return to
a BRM shelter for at least 30 days.4  Participants in the
Emergency Services Program must return to the shelter every
night during the applicable 17-day or 30-day period; if a
resident fails to check in to a BRM shelter each night, that
resident is prohibited from staying overnight at that shelter
for 30 days.  BRM’s rules on the length of a person’s stay in
the Emergency Services Program are suspended during the
winter.

The Discipleship Program is an “intensive, Christ-based
residential recovery program” of which “[r]eligious study is
the very essence.”  The record does not indicate any limit to
how long a member of the Discipleship Program may stay at
a BRM shelter.

The River of Life shelter contains 148 beds for
emergency use, along with 40 floor mats for overflow;
78 additional beds serve those in non-emergency shelter
programs such as the Discipleship Program.  The City Light
shelter has 110 beds for emergency services, as well as
40 floor mats to handle overflow and 38 beds for women in
non-emergency shelter programs.  All told, Boise’s three
homeless shelters contain 354 beds and 92 overflow mats for
homeless individuals.

A. The Plaintiffs

Plaintiffs Robert Martin, Robert Anderson, Lawrence Lee
Smith, Basil E. Humphrey, Pamela S. Hawkes, and Janet F.

4 The parties dispute the extent to which BRM actually enforces the
17- and 30-day limits.

Page 15 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE10

Bell are all homeless individuals who have lived in or around
Boise since at least 2007.  Between 2007 and 2009, each
plaintiff was convicted at least once of violating the Camping
Ordinance, the Disorderly Conduct Ordinance, or both.  With
one exception, all plaintiffs were sentenced to time served for
all convictions; on two occasions, Hawkes was sentenced to
one additional day in jail.  During the same period, Hawkes
was cited, but not convicted, under the Camping Ordinance,
and Martin was cited, but not convicted, under the Disorderly
Conduct Ordinance.

Plaintiff Robert Anderson currently lives in Boise; he is
homeless and has often relied on Boise’s shelters for housing. 
In the summer of 2007, Anderson stayed at River of Life as
part of the Emergency Services Program until he reached the
shelter’s 17-day limit for male guests.  Anderson testified that
during his 2007 stay at River of Life, he was required to
attend chapel services before he was permitted to eat dinner. 
At the conclusion of his 17-day stay, Anderson declined to
enter the Discipleship Program because of his religious
beliefs.  As Anderson was barred by the shelter’s policies
from returning to River of Life for 30 days, he slept outside
for the next several weeks.  On September 1, 2007, Anderson
was cited under the Camping Ordinance.  He pled guilty to
violating the Camping Ordinance and paid a $25 fine; he did
not appeal his conviction.

Plaintiff Robert Martin is a former resident of Boise who
currently lives in Post Falls, Idaho.  Martin returns frequently
to Boise to visit his minor son.  In March of 2009, Martin was
cited under the Camping Ordinance for sleeping outside; he
was cited again in 2012 under the same ordinance.

Page 16 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 11

B. Procedural History

The plaintiffs filed this action in the United States District
Court for the District of Idaho in October of 2009.  All
plaintiffs alleged that their previous citations under the
Camping Ordinance and the Disorderly Conduct Ordinance
violated the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the
Eighth Amendment, and sought damages for those alleged
violations under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  Cf. Jones, 444 F.3d at
1138.  Anderson and Martin also sought prospective
declaratory and injunctive relief precluding future
enforcement of the ordinances under the same statute and the
Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–2202.

After this litigation began, the Boise Police Department
promulgated a new “Special Order,” effective as of January
1, 2010, that prohibited enforcement of either the Camping
Ordinance or the Disorderly Conduct Ordinance against any
homeless person on public property on any night when no
shelter had “an available overnight space.”  City police
implemented the Special Order through a two-step procedure
known as the “Shelter Protocol.”

Under the Shelter Protocol, if any shelter in Boise reaches
capacity on a given night, that shelter will so notify the police
at roughly 11:00 pm.  Each shelter has discretion to determine
whether it is full, and Boise police have no other mechanism
or criteria for gauging whether a shelter is full.  Since the
Shelter Protocol was adopted, Sanctuary has reported that it
was full on almost 40% of nights.  Although BRM agreed to
the Shelter Protocol, its internal policy is never to turn any
person away because of a lack of space, and neither BRM
shelter has ever reported that it was full.

Page 17 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE12

If all shelters are full on the same night, police are to
refrain from enforcing either ordinance.  Presumably because
the BRM shelters have not reported full, Boise police
continue to issue citations regularly under both ordinances.

In July 2011, the district court granted summary judgment
to the City.  It held that the plaintiffs’ claims for retrospective
relief were barred under the Rooker-Feldman doctrine and
that their claims for prospective relief were mooted by the
Special Order and the Shelter Protocol.  Bell v. City of Boise,
834 F. Supp. 2d 1103 (D. Idaho 2011).  On appeal, we
reversed and remanded.  Bell v. City of Boise, 709 F.3d 890,
901 (9th Cir. 2013).  We held that the district court erred in
dismissing the plaintiffs’ claims under the Rooker-Feldman
doctrine.  Id. at 897.  In so holding, we expressly declined to
consider whether the favorable-termination requirement from
Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477 (1994), applied to the
plaintiffs’ claims for retrospective relief.  Instead, we left the
issue for the district court on remand.  Bell, 709 F.3d at 897
n.11.

Bell further held that the plaintiffs’ claims for prospective
relief were not moot.  The City had not met its “heavy
burden” of demonstrating that the challenged conduct —
enforcement of the two ordinances against homeless
individuals with no access to shelter — “could not reasonably
be expected to recur.”  Id. at 898, 901 (quoting Friends of the
Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S.
167, 189 (2000)).  We emphasized that the Special Order was
a statement of administrative policy and so could be amended
or reversed at any time by the Boise Chief of Police.  Id. at
899–900.

Page 18 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 13

Finally, Bell rejected the City’s argument that the
plaintiffs lacked standing to seek prospective relief because
they were no longer homeless.  Id. at 901 & n.12.  We noted
that, on summary judgment, the plaintiffs “need not establish
that they in fact have standing, but only that there is a genuine
issue of material fact as to the standing elements.”  Id.
(citation omitted).

On remand, the district court again granted summary
judgment to the City on the plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims.  The
court observed that Heck requires a § 1983 plaintiff seeking
damages for “harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness
would render a conviction or sentence invalid” to demonstrate
that “the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct
appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a
state tribunal . . . or called into question by a federal court’s
issuance of a writ of habeas corpus.”  512 U.S. at 486–87. 
According to the district court, “a judgment finding the
Ordinances unconstitutional . . . necessarily would imply the
invalidity of Plaintiffs’ [previous] convictions under those
ordinances,” and the plaintiffs therefore were required to
demonstrate that their convictions or sentences had already
been invalidated.  As none of the plaintiffs had raised an
Eighth Amendment challenge as a defense to criminal
prosecution, nor had any plaintiff successfully appealed their
conviction, the district court held that all of the plaintiffs’
claims for retrospective relief were barred by Heck.  The
district court also rejected as barred by Heck the plaintiffs’
claim for prospective injunctive relief under § 1983,
reasoning that “a ruling in favor of Plaintiffs on even a
prospective § 1983 claim would demonstrate the invalidity of
any confinement stemming from those convictions.”

Page 19 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE14

Finally, the district court determined that, although Heck
did not bar relief under the Declaratory Judgment Act, Martin
and Anderson now lack standing to pursue such relief.  The
linchpin of this holding was that the Camping Ordinance and
the Disorderly Conduct Ordinance were both amended in
2014 to codify the Special Order’s mandate that “[l]aw
enforcement officers shall not enforce [the ordinances] when
the individual is on public property and there is no available
overnight shelter.”  Boise City Code §§ 6-01-05, 9-10-02. 
Because the ordinances, as amended, permitted camping or
sleeping in a public place when no shelter space was
available, the court held that there was no “credible threat” of
future prosecution.  “If the Ordinances are not to be enforced
when the shelters are full, those Ordinances do not inflict a
constitutional injury upon these particular plaintiffs . . . .” 
The court emphasized that the record “suggests there is no
known citation of a homeless individual under the Ordinances
for camping or sleeping on public property on any night or
morning when he or she was unable to secure shelter due to
a lack of shelter capacity” and that “there has not been a
single night when all three shelters in Boise called in to report
they were simultaneously full for men, women or families.”

This appeal followed.

Page 20 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 15

II.  Discussion

A. Standing

We first consider whether any of the plaintiffs has
standing to pursue prospective relief.5  We conclude that there
are sufficient opposing facts in the record to create a genuine
issue of material fact as to whether Martin and Anderson face
a credible threat of prosecution under one or both ordinances
in the future at a time when they are unable to stay at any
Boise homeless shelter.6

“To establish Article III standing, an injury must be
concrete, particularized, and actual or imminent; fairly
traceable to the challenged action; and redressable by a
favorable ruling.”  Clapper v. Amnesty Int’l USA, 133 S. Ct.
1138, 1147 (2013) (citation omitted).  “Although imminence
is concededly a somewhat elastic concept, it cannot be
stretched beyond its purpose, which is to ensure that the
alleged injury is not too speculative for Article III purposes
— that the injury is certainly impending.”  Id. (citation
omitted).  A plaintiff need not, however, await an arrest or
prosecution to have standing to challenge the constitutionality
of a criminal statute.  “When the plaintiff has alleged an

5 Standing to pursue retrospective relief is not in doubt.  The only
threshold question affecting the availability of a claim for retrospective
relief — a question we address in the next section — is whether such
relief is barred by the doctrine established in Heck.

6 Although the SAC is somewhat ambiguous regarding which of the
plaintiffs seeks prospective relief, counsel for the plaintiffs made clear at
oral argument that only two of the plaintiffs, Martin and Anderson, seek
such relief, and the district court considered the standing question with
respect to Martin and Anderson only.

Page 21 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE16

intention to engage in a course of conduct arguably affected
with a constitutional interest, but proscribed by a statute, and
there exists a credible threat of prosecution thereunder, he
should not be required to await and undergo a criminal
prosecution as the sole means of seeking relief.”  Babbitt v.
United Farm Workers Nat’l Union, 442 U.S. 289, 298 (1979)
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted).  To defeat a
motion for summary judgment premised on an alleged lack of
standing, plaintiffs “ need not establish that they in fact have
standing, but only that there is a genuine question of material
fact as to the standing elements.”  Cent. Delta Water Agency
v. United States, 306 F.3d 938, 947 (9th Cir. 2002).

In dismissing Martin and Anderson’s claims for
declaratory relief for lack of standing, the district court
emphasized that Boise’s ordinances, as amended in 2014,
preclude the City from issuing a citation when there is no
available space at a shelter, and there is consequently no risk
that either Martin or Anderson will be cited under such
circumstances in the future.  Viewing the record in the light
most favorable to the plaintiffs, we cannot agree.

Although the 2014 amendments preclude the City from
enforcing the ordinances when there is no room available at
any shelter, the record demonstrates that the City is wholly
reliant on the shelters to self-report when they are full.  It is
undisputed that Sanctuary is full as to men on a substantial
percentage of nights, perhaps as high as 50%.  The City
nevertheless emphasizes that since the adoption of the Shelter
Protocol in 2010, the BRM facilities, River of Life and City
Light, have never reported that they are full, and BRM states
that it will never turn people away due to lack space.

Page 22 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 17

The plaintiffs have pointed to substantial evidence in the
record, however, indicating that whether or not the BRM
facilities are ever full or turn homeless individuals away for
lack of space, they do refuse to shelter homeless people who
exhaust the number of days allotted by the facilities. 
Specifically, the plaintiffs allege, and the City does not
dispute, that it is BRM’s policy to limit men to
17 consecutive days in the Emergency Services Program,
after which they cannot return to River of Life for 30 days;
City Light has a similar 30-day limit for women and children. 
Anderson testified that BRM has enforced this policy against
him in the past, forcing him to sleep outdoors.

The plaintiffs have adduced further evidence indicating
that River of Life permits individuals to remain at the shelter
after 17 days in the Emergency Services Program only on the
condition that they become part of the New Life Discipleship
program, which has a mandatory religious focus.  For
example, there is evidence that participants in the New Life
Program are not allowed to spend days at Corpus Christi, a
local Catholic program, “because it’s . . . a different sect.” 
There are also facts in dispute concerning whether the
Emergency Services Program itself has a religious
component.  Although the City argues strenuously that the
Emergency Services Program is secular, Anderson testified
to the contrary; he stated that he was once required to attend
chapel before being permitted to eat dinner at the River of
Life shelter.  Both Martin and Anderson have objected to the
overall religious atmosphere of the River of Life shelter,
including the Christian messaging on the shelter’s intake
form and the Christian iconography on the shelter walls.  A
city cannot, via the threat of prosecution, coerce an individual
to attend religion-based treatment programs consistently with
the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment.  Inouye v.

Page 23 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE18

Kemna, 504 F.3d 705, 712–13 (9th Cir. 2007).  Yet at the
conclusion of a 17-day stay at River of Life, or a 30-day stay
at City Light, an individual may be forced to choose between
sleeping outside on nights when Sanctuary is full (and risking
arrest under the ordinances), or enrolling in BRM
programming that is antithetical to his or her religious beliefs.

The 17-day and 30-day limits are not the only BRM
policies which functionally limit access to BRM facilities
even when space is nominally available.  River of Life also
turns individuals away if they voluntarily leave the shelter
before the 17-day limit and then attempt to return within
30 days.  An individual who voluntarily leaves a BRM
facility for any reason — perhaps because temporary shelter
is available at Sanctuary, or with friends or family, or in a
hotel — cannot immediately return to the shelter if
circumstances change.  Moreover, BRM’s facilities may deny
shelter to any individual who arrives after 5:30 pm, and
generally will deny shelter to anyone arriving after 8:00 pm. 
Sanctuary, however, does not assign beds to persons on its
waiting list until 9:00 pm.  Thus, by the time a homeless
individual on the Sanctuary waiting list discovers that the
shelter has no room available, it may be too late to seek
shelter at either BRM facility.

So, even if we credit the City’s evidence that BRM’s
facilities have never been “full,” and that the City has never
cited any person under the ordinances who could not obtain
shelter “due to a lack of shelter capacity,” there remains a
genuine issue of material fact as to whether homeless
individuals in Boise run a credible risk of being issued a
citation on a night when Sanctuary is full and they have been
denied entry to a BRM facility for reasons other than shelter
capacity.  If so, then as a practical matter, no shelter is

Page 24 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 19

available.  We note that despite the Shelter Protocol and the
amendments to both ordinances, the City continues regularly
to issue citations for violating both ordinances; during the
first three months of 2015, the Boise Police Department
issued over 175 such citations.

The City argues that Martin faces little risk of prosecution
under either ordinance because he has not lived in Boise since
2013.  Martin states, however, that he is still homeless and
still visits Boise several times a year to visit his minor son,
and that he has continued to seek shelter at Sanctuary and
River of Life.  Although Martin may no longer spend enough
time in Boise to risk running afoul of BRM’s 17-day limit, he
testified that he has unsuccessfully sought shelter at River of
Life after being placed on Sanctuary’s waiting list, only to
discover later in the evening that Sanctuary had no available
beds.  Should Martin return to Boise to visit his son, there is
a reasonable possibility that he might again seek shelter at
Sanctuary, only to discover (after BRM has closed for the
night) that Sanctuary has no space for him.  Anderson, for his
part, continues to live in Boise and states that he remains
homeless.

We conclude that both Martin and Anderson have
demonstrated a genuine issue of material fact regarding
whether they face a credible risk of prosecution under the
ordinances in the future on a night when they have been
denied access to Boise’s homeless shelters; both plaintiffs
therefore have standing to seek prospective relief.

B. Heck v. Humphrey

We turn next to the impact of Heck v. Humphrey and its
progeny on this case.  With regard to retrospective relief, the

Page 25 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE20

plaintiffs maintain that Heck should not bar their claims
because, with one exception, all of the plaintiffs were
sentenced to time served.7  It would therefore have been
impossible for the plaintiffs to obtain federal habeas relief, as
any petition for a writ of habeas corpus must be filed while
the petitioner is “in custody pursuant to the judgment of a
State court.”  See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(a); Spencer v. Kemna,
523 U.S. 1, 7, 17–18 (1998).  With regard to prospective
relief, the plaintiffs emphasize that they seek only equitable
protection against future enforcement of an allegedly
unconstitutional statute, and not to invalidate any prior
conviction under the same statute.  We hold that although the
Heck line of cases precludes most — but not all — of the
plaintiffs’ requests for retrospective relief, that doctrine has
no application to the plaintiffs’ request for an injunction
enjoining prospective enforcement of the ordinances.

1. The Heck Doctrine

A long line of Supreme Court case law, beginning with
Preiser v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 475 (1973), holds that a
prisoner in state custody cannot use a § 1983 action to
challenge the fact or duration of his or her confinement, but
must instead seek federal habeas corpus relief or analogous
state relief.  Id. at 477, 500.  Preiser considered whether a
prison inmate could bring a § 1983 action seeking an
injunction to remedy an unconstitutional deprivation of good-
time conduct credits.  Observing that habeas corpus is the
traditional instrument to obtain release from unlawful

7 Plaintiff Pamela Hawkes was convicted of violating the Camping
Ordinance or Disorderly Conduct Ordinance on twelve occasions;
although she was usually sentenced to time served, she was twice
sentenced to one additional day in jail.

Page 26 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 21

confinement, Preiser recognized an implicit exception from
§ 1983’s broad scope for actions that lie “within the core of
habeas corpus” — specifically, challenges to the “fact or
duration” of confinement.  Id. at 487, 500.  The Supreme
Court subsequently held, however, that although Preiser
barred inmates from obtaining an injunction to restore good-
time credits via a § 1983 action, Preiser did not “preclude a
litigant with standing from obtaining by way of ancillary
relief an otherwise proper injunction enjoining the
prospective enforcement of invalid prison regulations.”  Wolff
v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539, 555 (1974) (emphasis added).

Heck addressed a § 1983 action brought by an inmate
seeking compensatory and punitive damages.  The inmate
alleged that state and county officials had engaged in
unlawful investigations and knowing destruction of
exculpatory evidence.  Heck, 512 U.S. at 479.  The Court in
Heck analogized a § 1983 action of this type, which called
into question the validity of an underlying conviction, to a
cause of action for malicious prosecution, id. at 483–84, and
went on to hold that, as with a malicious prosecution claim,
a plaintiff in such an action must demonstrate a favorable
termination of the criminal proceedings before seeking tort
relief, id. at 486–87.  “[T]o recover damages for allegedly
unconstitutional conviction or imprisonment, or for other
harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness would render a
conviction or sentence invalid, a § 1983 plaintiff must prove
that the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct
appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a
state tribunal authorized to make such determination, or
called into question by a federal court’s issuance of a writ of
habeas corpus.”  Id.

Page 27 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE22

Edwards v. Balisok, 520 U.S. 641 (1997) extended Heck’s
holding to claims for declaratory relief.  Id. at 648.  The
plaintiff in Edwards alleged that he had been deprived of
earned good-time credits without due process of law, because
the decisionmaker in disciplinary proceedings had concealed
exculpatory evidence.  Because the plaintiff’s claim for
declaratory relief was “based on allegations of deceit and bias
on the part of the decisionmaker that necessarily imply the
invalidity of the punishment imposed,” Edwards held, it was
“not cognizable under § 1983.”  Id.  Edwards went on to hold,
however, that a requested injunction requiring prison officials
to date-stamp witness statements was not Heck-barred,
reasoning that a “prayer for such prospective relief will not
‘necessarily imply’ the invalidity of a previous loss of good-
time credits, and so may properly be brought under § 1983.” 
Id. (emphasis added).

Most recently, Wilkinson v. Dotson, 544 U.S. 74 (2005),
stated that Heck bars § 1983 suits even when the relief sought
is prospective injunctive or declaratory relief, “if success in
that action would necessarily demonstrate the invalidity of
confinement or its duration.”  Id. at 81–82 (emphasis
omitted).  But Wilkinson held that the plaintiffs in that case
could seek a prospective injunction compelling the state to
comply with constitutional requirements in parole
proceedings in the future.  The Court observed that the
prisoners’ claims for future relief, “if successful, will not
necessarily imply the invalidity of confinement or shorten its
duration.”  Id. at 82.

The Supreme Court did not, in these cases or any other,
conclusively determine whether Heck’s favorable-termination
requirement applies to convicts who have no practical
opportunity to challenge their conviction or sentence via a

Page 28 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 23

petition for habeas corpus.  See Muhammad v. Close,
540 U.S. 749, 752 & n.2 (2004).  But in Spencer, five Justices
suggested that Heck may not apply in such circumstances. 
Spencer, 523 U.S. at 3.

The petitioner in Spencer had filed a federal habeas
petition seeking to invalidate an order revoking his parole. 
While the habeas petition was pending, the petitioner’s term
of imprisonment expired, and his habeas petition was
consequently dismissed as moot.  Justice Souter wrote a
concurring opinion in which three other Justices joined,
addressing the petitioner’s argument that if his habeas
petition were mooted by his release, any § 1983 action would
be barred under Heck, yet he would no longer have access to
a federal habeas forum to challenge the validity of his parole
revocation.  Id. at 18–19 (Souter, J., concurring).  Justice
Souter stated that in his view “Heck has no such effect,” and
that “a former prisoner, no longer ‘in custody,’ may bring a
§ 1983 action establishing the unconstitutionality of a
conviction or confinement without being bound to satisfy a
favorable-termination requirement that it would be
impossible as a matter of law for him to satisfy.”  Id. at 21. 
Justice Stevens, dissenting, stated that he would have held the
habeas petition in Spencer not moot, but agreed that “[g]iven
the Court’s holding that petitioner does not have a remedy
under the habeas statute, it is perfectly clear . . . that he may
bring an action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.”  Id. at 25 n.8
(Stevens, J., dissenting).

Relying on the concurring and dissenting opinions in
Spencer, we have held that the “unavailability of a remedy in
habeas corpus because of mootness” permitted a plaintiff
released from custody to maintain a § 1983 action for
damages, “even though success in that action would imply the

Page 29 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE24

invalidity of the disciplinary proceeding that caused
revocation of his good-time credits.”  Nonnette v. Small,
316 F.3d 872, 876 (9th Cir. 2002).  But we have limited
Nonnette in  recent years.  Most notably, we held in Lyall v.
City of Los Angeles, 807 F.3d 1178 (9th Cir. 2015), that even
where a plaintiff had no practical opportunity to pursue
federal habeas relief while detained because of the short
duration of his confinement, Heck bars a § 1983 action that
would imply the invalidity of a prior conviction if the
plaintiff could have sought invalidation of the underlying
conviction via direct appeal or state post-conviction relief, but
did not do so.  Id. at 1192 & n.12.

2. Retrospective Relief

Here, the majority of the plaintiffs’ claims for
retrospective relief are governed squarely by Lyall.  It is
undisputed that all the plaintiffs not only failed to challenge
their convictions on direct appeal but expressly waived the
right to do so as a condition of their guilty pleas.  The
plaintiffs have made no showing that any of their convictions
were invalidated via state post-conviction relief.  We
therefore hold that all but two of the plaintiffs’ claims for
damages are foreclosed under Lyall.

Two of the plaintiffs, however, Robert Martin and Pamela
Hawkes, also received citations under the ordinances that
were dismissed before the state obtained a conviction. 
Hawkes was cited for violating the Camping Ordinance on
July 8, 2007; that violation was dismissed on August 28,
2007.  Martin was cited for violating the Disorderly Conduct
Ordinance on April 24, 2009; those charges were dismissed
on September 9, 2009.  With respect to these two incidents,
the district court erred in finding that the plaintiffs’ Eighth

Page 30 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 25

Amendment challenge was barred by Heck.  Where there is
no “conviction or sentence” that may be undermined by a
grant of relief to the plaintiffs, the Heck doctrine has no
application.  512 U.S. at 486–87; see also Wallace v. Kato,
549 U.S. 384, 393 (2007).

Relying on Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 664
(1977), the City argues that the Eighth Amendment, and the
Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause in particular, have no
application where there has been no conviction.  The City’s
reliance on Ingraham is misplaced.  As the Supreme Court
observed in Ingraham, the Cruel and Unusual Punishments
Clause not only limits the types of punishment that may be
imposed and prohibits the imposition of punishment grossly
disproportionate to the severity of the crime, but also
“imposes substantive limits on what can be made criminal
and punished as such.”  Id. at 667.  “This [latter] protection
governs the criminal law process as a whole, not only the
imposition of punishment postconviction.”  Jones, 444 F.3d
at 1128.

Ingraham concerned only whether “impositions outside
the criminal process” — in that case, the paddling of
schoolchildren — “constituted cruel and unusual
punishment.”  430 U.S. at 667.  Ingraham did not hold that a
plaintiff challenging the state’s power to criminalize a
particular status or conduct in the first instance, as the
plaintiffs in this case do, must first be convicted.  If
conviction were a prerequisite for such a challenge, “the state
could in effect punish individuals in the preconviction stages
of the criminal law enforcement process for being or doing
things that under the [Cruel and Unusual Punishments
Clause] cannot be subject to the criminal process.”  Jones,
444 F.3d at 1129.  For those rare Eighth Amendment

Page 31 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE26

challenges concerning the state’s very power to criminalize
particular behavior or status, then, a plaintiff need
demonstrate only the initiation of the criminal process against
him, not a conviction.

3. Prospective Relief

The district court also erred in concluding that the
plaintiffs’ requests for prospective injunctive relief were
barred by Heck.  The district court relied entirely on language
in Wilkinson stating that “a state prisoner’s § 1983 action is
barred (absent prior invalidation) . . . no matter the relief
sought (damages or equitable relief) . . . if success in that
action would necessarily demonstrate the invalidity of
confinement or its duration.”  Wilkinson, 544 U.S. at 81–82. 
The district court concluded from this language in Wilkinson
that a person convicted under an allegedly unconstitutional
statute may never challenge the validity or application of that
statute after the initial criminal proceeding is complete, even
when the relief sought is prospective only and independent of
the prior conviction.  The logical extension of the district
court’s interpretation is that an individual who does not
successfully invalidate a first conviction under an
unconstitutional statute will have no opportunity to challenge
that statute prospectively so as to avoid arrest and conviction
for violating that same statute in the future.

Neither Wilkinson nor any other case in the Heck line
supports such a result.  Rather, Wolff, Edwards, and
Wilkinson compel the opposite conclusion.

Wolff held that although Preiser barred a § 1983 action
seeking restoration of good-time credits absent a successful
challenge in federal habeas proceedings, Preiser did not

Page 32 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 27

“preclude a litigant with standing from obtaining by way of
ancillary relief an otherwise proper injunction enjoining the
prospective enforcement of invalid . . .  regulations.”  Wolff,
418 U.S. at 555.  Although Wolff was decided before Heck,
the Court subsequently made clear that Heck effected no
change in the law in this regard, observing in Edwards that
“[o]rdinarily, a prayer for . . .  prospective [injunctive] relief
will not ‘necessarily imply’ the invalidity of a previous loss
of good-time credits, and so may properly be brought under
§ 1983.”  Edwards, 520 U.S. at 648 (emphasis added). 
Importantly, the Court held in Edwards that although the
plaintiff could not, consistently with Heck, seek a declaratory
judgment stating that the procedures employed by state
officials that deprived him of good-time credits were
unconstitutional, he could seek an injunction barring such
allegedly unconstitutional procedures in the future.  Id. 
Finally, the Court noted in Wilkinson that the Heck line of
cases “has focused on the need to ensure that state prisoners
use only habeas corpus (or similar state) remedies when they
seek to invalidate the duration of their confinement,”
Wilkinson, 544 U.S. at 81 (emphasis added), alluding to an
existing confinement, not one yet to come.

The Heck doctrine, in other words, serves to ensure the
finality and validity of previous convictions, not to insulate
future prosecutions from challenge.  In context, it is clear that
Wilkinson’s holding that the Heck doctrine bars a § 1983
action “no matter the relief sought (damages or equitable
relief) . . . if success in that action would necessarily
demonstrate the invalidity of confinement or its duration”
applies to equitable relief concerning an existing
confinement, not to suits seeking to preclude an
unconstitutional confinement in the future, arising from
incidents occurring after any prior conviction and stemming

Page 33 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE28

from a possible later prosecution and conviction.  Id. at 81–82
(emphasis added).  As Wilkinson held, “claims for future
relief (which, if successful, will not necessarily imply the
invalidity of confinement or shorten its duration)” are distant
from the “core” of habeas corpus with which the Heck line of
cases is concerned, and are not precluded by the Heck
doctrine.  Id. at 82.

In sum, we hold that the majority of the plaintiffs’ claims
for retrospective relief are barred by Heck, but both Martin
and Hawkes stated claims for damages to which Heck has no
application.  We further hold that Heck has no application to
the plaintiffs’ requests for prospective injunctive relief.

C. The Eighth Amendment

At last, we turn to the merits — does the Cruel and
Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment
preclude the enforcement of a statute prohibiting sleeping
outside against homeless individuals with no access to
alternative shelter?  We hold that it does, for essentially the
same reasons articulated in the now-vacated Jones opinion.

The Eighth Amendment states: “Excessive bail shall not
be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and
unusual punishments inflicted.” U.S. Const., amend. VIII. 
The Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause “circumscribes
the criminal process in three ways.”  Ingraham, 430 U.S. at
667.  First, it limits the type of punishment the government
may impose; second, it proscribes punishment “grossly
disproportionate” to the severity of the crime; and third, it
places substantive limits on what the government may
criminalize.  Id.  It is the third limitation that is pertinent here.

Page 34 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 29

“Even one day in prison would be a cruel and unusual
punishment for the ‘crime’ of having a common cold.” 
Robinson v. California, 370 U.S. 660, 667 (1962).  Cases
construing substantive limits as to what the government may
criminalize are rare, however, and for good reason — the
Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause’s third limitation is
“one to be applied sparingly.”  Ingraham, 430 U.S. at 667.

Robinson, the seminal case in this branch of Eighth
Amendment jurisprudence, held a California statute that
“ma[de] the ‘status’ of narcotic addiction a criminal offense”
invalid under the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause. 
370 U.S. at 666.  The California law at issue in Robinson was
“not one which punishe[d] a person for the use of narcotics,
for their purchase, sale or possession, or for antisocial or
disorderly behavior resulting from their administration”; it
punished addiction itself.  Id.  Recognizing narcotics
addiction as an illness or disease — “apparently an illness
which may be contracted innocently or involuntarily” — and
observing that a “law which made a criminal offense of . . . a
disease would doubtless be universally thought to be an
infliction of cruel and unusual punishment,” Robinson held
the challenged statute a violation of the Eighth Amendment. 
Id. at 666–67.

As Jones observed, Robinson did not explain at length the
principles underpinning its holding.  See Jones, 444 F.3d at
1133.  In Powell v. Texas, 392 U.S. 514 (1968), however, the
Court elaborated on the principle first articulated in Robinson.

Powell concerned the constitutionality of a Texas law
making public drunkenness a criminal offense.  Justice
Marshall, writing for a plurality of the Court, distinguished
the Texas statute from the law at issue in Robinson on the

Page 35 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE30

ground that the Texas statute made criminal not alcoholism
but conduct — appearing in public while intoxicated. 
“[A]ppellant was convicted, not for being a chronic alcoholic,
but for being in public while drunk on a particular occasion. 
The State of Texas thus has not sought to punish a mere
status, as California did in Robinson; nor has it attempted to
regulate appellant’s behavior in the privacy of his own
home.”  Id. at 532 (plurality opinion).

The Powell plurality opinion went on to interpret
Robinson as precluding only the criminalization of “status,”
not of “involuntary” conduct.  “The entire thrust of
Robinson’s interpretation of the Cruel and Unusual
Punishment Clause is that criminal penalties may be inflicted
only if the accused has committed some act, has engaged in
some behavior, which society has an interest in preventing, or
perhaps in historical common law terms, has committed some
actus reus.  It thus does not deal with the question of whether
certain conduct cannot constitutionally be punished because
it is, in some sense, ‘involuntary’ . . . .”  Id. at 533.

Four Justices dissented from the Court’s holding in
Powell; Justice White concurred in the result alone.  Notably,
Justice White noted that many chronic alcoholics are also
homeless, and that for those individuals, public drunkenness
may be unavoidable as a practical matter.  “For all practical
purposes the public streets may be home for these
unfortunates, not because their disease compels them to be
there, but because, drunk or sober, they have no place else to
go and no place else to be when they are drinking. . . . For
some of these alcoholics I would think a showing could be
made that resisting drunkenness is impossible and that
avoiding public places when intoxicated is also impossible. 
As applied to them this statute is in effect a law which bans

Page 36 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 31

a single act for which they may not be convicted under the
Eighth Amendment — the act of getting drunk.”  Id. at 551
(White, J., concurring in the judgment).

The four dissenting Justices adopted a position consistent
with that taken by Justice White: that under Robinson,
“criminal penalties may not be inflicted upon a person for
being in a condition he is powerless to change,” and that the
defendant, “once intoxicated, . . . could not prevent himself
from appearing in public places.”  Id. at 567 (Fortas, J.,
dissenting).  Thus, five Justices gleaned from Robinson the
principle that “that the Eighth Amendment prohibits the state
from punishing an involuntary act or condition if it is the
unavoidable consequence of one’s status or being.”  Jones,
444 F.3d at 1135; see also United States v. Roberston,
875 F.3d 1281, 1291 (9th Cir. 2017).

This principle compels the conclusion that the Eighth
Amendment prohibits the imposition of criminal penalties for
sitting, sleeping, or lying outside on public property for
homeless individuals who cannot obtain shelter.  As Jones
reasoned, “[w]hether sitting, lying, and sleeping are defined
as acts or conditions, they are universal and unavoidable
consequences of being human.”  Jones, 444 F.3d at 1136. 
Moreover, any “conduct at issue here is involuntary and
inseparable from status — they are one and the same, given
that human beings are biologically compelled to rest, whether
by sitting, lying, or sleeping.”  Id.  As a result, just as the state
may not criminalize the state of being “homeless in public
places,” the state may not “criminalize conduct that is an
unavoidable consequence of being homeless — namely
sitting, lying, or sleeping on the streets.”  Id. at 1137.

Page 37 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE32

Our holding is a narrow one.  Like the Jones panel, “we
in no way dictate to the City that it must provide sufficient
shelter for the homeless, or allow anyone who wishes to sit,
lie, or sleep on the streets . . . at any time and at any place.” 
Id. at 1138.  We hold only that “so long as there is a greater
number of homeless individuals in [a jurisdiction] than the
number of available beds [in shelters],” the jurisdiction
cannot prosecute homeless individuals for “involuntarily
sitting, lying, and sleeping in public.”  Id.  That is, as long as
there is no option of sleeping indoors, the government cannot
criminalize indigent, homeless people for sleeping outdoors,
on public property, on the false premise they had a choice in
the matter.8

We are not alone in reaching this conclusion.  As one
court has observed, “resisting the need to eat, sleep or engage
in other life-sustaining activities is impossible.  Avoiding
public places when engaging in this otherwise innocent
conduct is also impossible. . . .  As long as the homeless
plaintiffs do not have a single place where they can lawfully
be, the challenged ordinances, as applied to them, effectively

8 Naturally, our holding does not cover individuals who do have
access to adequate temporary shelter, whether because they have the
means to pay for it or because it is realistically available to them for free,
but who choose not to use it.  Nor do we suggest that a jurisdiction with
insufficient shelter can never criminalize the act of sleeping outside.  Even
where shelter is unavailable, an ordinance prohibiting sitting, lying, or
sleeping outside at particular times or in particular locations might well be
constitutionally permissible.  See Jones, 444 F.3d at 1123.  So, too, might
an ordinance barring the obstruction of public rights of way or the erection
of certain structures.  Whether some other ordinance is consistent with the
Eighth Amendment will depend, as here, on whether it punishes a person
for lacking the means to live out the “universal and unavoidable
consequences of being human” in the way the ordinance prescribes.  Id.
at 1136.

Page 38 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 33

punish them for something for which they may not be
convicted under the [E]ighth [A]mendment — sleeping,
eating and other innocent conduct.”  Pottinger v. City of
Miami, 810 F. Supp. 1551, 1565 (S.D. Fla. 1992); see also
Johnson v. City of Dallas, 860 F. Supp. 344, 350 (N.D. Tex.
1994) (holding that a “sleeping in public ordinance as applied
against the homeless is unconstitutional”), rev’d on other
grounds, 61 F.3d 442 (5th Cir. 1995).9

Here, the two ordinances criminalize the simple act of
sleeping outside on public property, whether bare or with a
blanket or other basic bedding.  The Disorderly Conduct
Ordinance, on its face, criminalizes “[o]ccupying, lodging, or
sleeping in any building, structure or place, whether public or
private”  without permission.  Boise City Code § 6-01-05.  Its
scope is just as sweeping as the Los Angeles ordinance at
issue in Jones, which mandated that “[n]o person shall sit, lie
or sleep in or upon any street, sidewalk or other public way.”
444 F.3d at 1123.

The Camping Ordinance criminalizes using “any of the
streets, sidewalks, parks or public places as a camping place

9 In  Joel v. City of Orlando, 232 F.3d 1353, 1362 (11th Cir. 2000),
the Eleventh Circuit upheld an anti-camping ordinance similar to Boise’s
against an Eighth Amendment challenge.  In Joel, however, the defendants
presented unrefuted evidence that the homeless shelters in the City of
Orlando had never reached capacity and that the plaintiffs had always
enjoyed access to shelter space.  Id.  Those unrefuted facts were critical
to the court’s holding.  Id.  As discussed below, the plaintiffs here have
demonstrated a genuine issue of material fact concerning whether they
have been denied access to shelter in the past or expect to be so denied in
the future.  Joel therefore does not provide persuasive guidance for this
case.

Page 39 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE34

at any time.”  Boise City Code § 9-10-02.  The ordinance
defines “camping” broadly:

The term “camp” or “camping” shall mean the
use of public property as a temporary or
permanent place of dwelling, lodging, or
residence, or as a living accommodation at
anytime between sunset and sunrise, or as a
sojourn. Indicia of camping may include, but
are not limited to, storage of personal
belongings, using tents or other temporary
structures for sleeping or storage of personal
belongings, carrying on cooking activities or
making any fire in an unauthorized area, or
any of these activities in combination with
one another or in combination with either
sleeping or making preparations to sleep
(including the laying down of bedding for the
purpose of sleeping).

Id.  It appears from the record that the Camping Ordinance is
frequently enforced against homeless individuals with some
elementary bedding, whether or not any of the other listed
indicia of “camping” — the erection of temporary structures,
the activity of cooking or making fire, or the storage of
personal property — are present.  For example, a Boise police
officer testified that he cited plaintiff Pamela Hawkes under
the Camping Ordinance for sleeping outside “wrapped in a
blanket with her sandals off and next to her,” for sleeping in
a public restroom “with blankets,” and for sleeping in a park
“on a blanket, wrapped in blankets on the ground.”  The
Camping Ordinance therefore can be, and allegedly is,
enforced against homeless individuals who take even the
most rudimentary precautions to protect themselves from the

Page 40 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 35

elements.  We conclude that a municipality cannot
criminalize such behavior consistently with the Eighth
Amendment when no sleeping space is practically available
in any shelter.

III.  Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the judgment of
the district court as to the plaintiffs’ requests for retrospective
relief, except as such claims relate to Hawkes’s July 2007
citation under the Camping Ordinance and Martin’s April
2009 citation under the Disorderly Conduct Ordinance.  We
REVERSE and REMAND with respect to the plaintiffs’
requests for prospective relief, both declaratory and
injunctive, and to the plaintiffs’ claims for retrospective relief
insofar as they relate to Hawkes’ July 2007 citation or
Martin’s April 2009 citation.10

10 Costs shall be awarded to the plaintiffs.

Page 41 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE36

OWENS, Circuit Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in
part:

I agree with the majority that the doctrine of Heck v.
Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477 (1994), bars the plaintiffs’
42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims for damages that are based on
convictions that have not been challenged on direct appeal or
invalidated in state post-conviction relief.  See Lyall v. City of
Los Angeles, 807 F.3d 1178, 1192 n.12 (9th Cir. 2015).

I also agree that Heck and its progeny have no application
where there is no “conviction or sentence” that would be
undermined by granting a plaintiff’s request for relief under
§ 1983.  Heck, 512 U.S. at 486–87; see also Wallace v. Kato,
549 U.S. 384, 393 (2007).  I therefore concur in the
majority’s conclusion that Heck does not bar plaintiffs Robert
Martin and Pamela Hawkes from seeking retrospective relief
for the two instances in which they received citations, but not
convictions.  I also concur in the majority’s Eighth
Amendment analysis as to those two claims for retrospective
relief.

Where I part ways with the majority is in my
understanding of Heck’s application to the plaintiffs’ claims
for declaratory and injunctive relief.  In Wilkinson v. Dotson,
544 U.S. 74 (2005), the Supreme Court explained where the
Heck doctrine stands today:

[A] state prisoner’s § 1983 action is barred
(absent prior invalidation)—no matter the
relief sought (damages or equitable relief), no
matter the target of the prisoner’s suit (state
conduct leading to conviction or internal
prison proceedings)—if success in that action

Page 42 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE 37

would necessarily demonstrate the invalidity
of confinement or its duration.

Id. at 81–82.  Here, the majority acknowledges this language
in Wilkinson, but concludes that Heck’s bar on any type of
relief that “would necessarily demonstrate the invalidity of
confinement” does not preclude the prospective claims at
issue.  The majority reasons that the purpose of Heck is “to
ensure the finality and validity of previous convictions, not to
insulate future prosecutions from challenge,” and so
concludes that the plaintiffs’ prospective claims may proceed.
 I respectfully disagree.

A declaration that the city ordinances are unconstitutional
and an injunction against their future enforcement necessarily
demonstrate the invalidity of the plaintiffs’ prior convictions. 
Indeed, any time an individual challenges the
constitutionality of a substantive criminal statute under which
he has been convicted, he asks for a judgment that would
necessarily demonstrate the invalidity of his conviction.  And
though neither the Supreme Court nor this court has squarely
addressed Heck’s application to § 1983 claims challenging
the constitutionality of a substantive criminal statute, I
believe Edwards v. Balisok, 520 U.S. 641 (1997), makes clear
that Heck prohibits such challenges.  In Edwards, the
Supreme Court explained that although our court had
recognized that Heck barred § 1983 claims challenging the
validity of a prisoner’s confinement “as a substantive matter,”
it improperly distinguished as not Heck-barred all claims
alleging only procedural violations.  520 U.S. at 645.  In
holding that Heck also barred those procedural claims that
would necessarily imply the invalidity of a conviction, the
Court did not question our conclusion that claims challenging
a conviction “as a substantive matter” are barred by Heck. 

Page 43 of 71



MARTIN V. CITY OF BOISE38

Id.; see also Wilkinson, 544 U.S. at 82 (holding that the
plaintiffs’ claims could proceed because the relief requested
would only “render invalid the state procedures” and “a
favorable judgment [would] not ‘necessarily imply the
invalidity of [their] conviction[s] or sentence[s]’” (emphasis
added) (quoting Heck, 512 U.S. at 487)).

Edwards thus leads me to conclude that an individual who
was convicted under a criminal statute, but who did not
challenge the constitutionality of the statute at the time of his
conviction through direct appeal or post-conviction relief,
cannot do so in the first instance by seeking declaratory or
injunctive relief under § 1983.  See Abusaid v. Hillsborough
Cty. Bd. of Cty. Comm’rs, 405 F.3d 1298, 1316 n.9 (11th Cir.
2005) (assuming that a §1983 claim challenging “the
constitutionality of the ordinance under which [the petitioner
was convicted]” would be Heck-barred).  I therefore would
hold that Heck bars the plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory and
injunctive relief.

We are not the first court to struggle applying Heck to
“real life examples,” nor will we be the last.  See, e.g.,
Spencer v. Kemna, 523 U.S. 1, 21 (1998) (Ginsburg, J.,
concurring) (alterations and internal quotation marks omitted)
(explaining that her thoughts on Heck had changed since she
joined the majority opinion in that case).  If the slate were
blank, I would agree that the majority’s holding as to
prospective relief makes good sense.  But because I read
Heck and its progeny differently, I dissent as to that section
of the majority’s opinion.  I otherwise join the majority in
full.

Page 44 of 71



 

Staff Report 

 

Meeting Date: November 19, 2018 

From Kim Yamashita, City Manager 

SUBJECT: Council Rules Update 
 
Background: 
Council met several months ago in workshop to discuss and update the Council Rules.  
As you may recall there were some areas where the rules contradicted themselves and 
or did not clarify expectations.  In another area staff needed clarification on roles and 
responsibilities.  After that workshop, staff went back and made the edits and 
corrections as discussed.  The updates need to be ratified by council. 
 
Recommendation: 
Motion to amend Council Rules presented. 

Page 45 of 71



City of Sandy
COUNCIL RULES

Adopted ___ XX, 2018 -- Resolution 2018-XX

Page 46 of 71



Page 1      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Agenda 2

Communication with Staff 4

Conferences and Seminars 5

Confidentiality 5

Conflict of Interest 6

Consent Agenda 6

Council Rules 6

Emergency Meetings 7

Executive Sessions 7

Exhibits 8

Expenses and Reimbursement 9

Filling Vacancies on the Council 9

Filling Vacancies on Advisory Boards and Commissions And, Commissions and 
Committees 10

OPERATION OF ADVISORY BOARDS - See ADMIN Policy 2018-01 11

Flags, Signs and Posters 11

Gifts 11

Government Standards and Practices Commission Requirements and Reporting 11

Legal Advice 12

Liaison to Advisory Boards, Commissions and Committees 13

Interaction with Departments. 14

Litigation 14

Meeting Staffing 15

Meeting Times 15

Minutes 15

Motions 16

News Media 17

Order and Decorum 17

Order of Business 18

Page 47 of 71



Page 2      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Ordinance Reading and Adoption 19

Planning Commission Testimony 20

Presiding Officer 20

Public Members Addressing the Council 20

Public Hearings 21

Public Records 22

Representing the City 23

Speaking by Council Members 23

Televising of Council Meetings 24

Voting 24

Work Sessions 25

Agenda 
The City Manager or the Manager’s designee shall prepare an agenda of the business to be 
presented at a regular Council meeting. Wherever possible, it is desirable that no item of 
business be added to an agenda after 12 Noon on the Friday ten days before the 1st or 3rd 
Monday of the month. The agenda packet containing all agenda items will be available for the 
City Council and public on the Thursday four days before the Council meeting.

A. A Councilor may place an item on a Council agenda by motion approved by the 
Council or with Mayor’s approval. The City Manager shall be notified upon the Mayor’s 
approval of an agenda item. Council members will endeavor to have subjects they wish 
considered submitted in time to be placed on the agenda.

B. A Councilor who desires major policy or ordinance research should first raise the issue 
at a meeting under Council Reports. The Council should consider items in light of City priorities 
and workload and agree to proceed with an issue or ordinance before staff time is spent 
preparing a report. The Councilor may present information or a position paper or ask for a 
department report or committee recommendation. Councilors who agree that staff time can be 
spent on a particular item are not bound to support the issue when it comes before the Council 
for a vote.

Annual Report of Boards and Commissions Each board, commission and committee will 

Page 48 of 71



Page 3      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

annually report to the Council on their activities for the previous year at a regular City Council 
meeting. The report will be prepared in a format prescribed by the Council.

Attendance. 

Councilors will inform the Mayor and the City Manager if they are unable to attend any 
meeting. Additionally, the Mayor will inform the Council President and the City Manager 
regarding any absence by the Mayor. Meeting attendance is critical to appropriate policy 
development. Councilors will make best efforts to schedule absences/vacations around Council 
meetings. Excused absences are typically for personal, family, or medical reasons. 

Bias and Disqualification.
 Any proponent, opponent, or other party interested in a quasi- judicial matter to be heard by 
the Council may challenge the qualification of any Councilor to participate in such hearing and 
decision. Such challenge must state facts relied upon by the party relating to a Councilor’s bias, 
prejudgement, personal interest, or other facts from which the party has concluded that the 
Councilor will not participate and make a decision in an impartial manner. Such challenges shall 
be made prior to the commencement of the public hearing. The Mayor shall give the challenged 
member an opportunity to respond. A motion to accept or deny the challenge will be accepted 
and voted upon. Such challenges shall be incorporated into the record of the hearing.

A. In the case of a quasi-judicial matter that is heard by the Council, a Councilor must 
disclose his or her participation in a prior decision or action on the matter that is before the 
Council. A common example of this is when a Planning Commission member is elected or 
appointed to the City Council, or if a Councilor testifies at a Planning Commission meeting. The 
Councilor shall state whether he or she can participate in the hearing with an open mind and 
with complete disregard for the previous decision made. If the Councilor is unable to hear the 
matter impartially, the Councilor has a duty to disqualify him or herself from participating in the 
proceedings and to leave the Council Chambers, provided that the Councilor may participate in 
the proceeding as a private citizen if the Councilor is a party with standing.  .

B. If the City Council believes that the member is actually biased, it may disqualify the 
member by majority vote from participating in a decision on the matter. A Councilor who has 
been disqualified from participating in a decision may participate in the proceeding as a private 
citizen if the Councilor is a party with standing.

Page 49 of 71



Page 4      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

City Manager Evaluation
The evaluation of the City Manager will be performed under the terms of the Manager’s 
contract.

City Newsletter
As a general policy, the City newsletter should be used for only City government related 
articles, leaving community articles to local newspapers. Events not sponsored entirely or 
partially by the City should not be allowed space in the newsletter. Requests for placement of 
articles in the newsletter shall be approved by the City Manager or designee.

Communication with Staff
 Councilors shall respect the separation between policy making and administration by:

A. Attempting to work together with the staff as a team in a spirit of mutual confidence 
and support.

B. Not attempting to influence or coerce the City Manager or department head 
concerning personnel, purchasing, awarding of contracts, selection of consultants, processing of 
development applications or the granting of City licenses and permits.

C. Addressing all inquiries and requests for information from staff to the City Manager 
or City Attorney and allowing sufficient time for response.

  D. Limiting individual contacts with City officers and employees so as not to influence 
staff decisions or recommendations, to interfere with their work performance, to undermine 
the authority of supervisors or to prevent the full Council from having benefit of any 
information received.

E. Respecting roles and responsibilities of staff when and if expressing criticism in a 
public meeting or through public electronic mail messages. Staff shall have the same respect for 
the roles and responsibilities of Council members.

Page 50 of 71



Page 5      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Public Comment
 At the beginning of each regular meeting, the Council shall designate a time for Public 
Comment, which shall be reserved for citizens to address the Council on matters related to City 
government and properly the object of Council consideration. Time is limited to five minutes for 
each speaker, unless the Council decides prior to the Public Comment period to allocate less 
time. The purpose of the Public Comment period is to provide citizens an opportunity to be 
heard by the Council primarily on issues not on the agenda. Councilors should refrain from 
engaging speakers in debate or extended dialogue, or directing questions to staff for immediate 
response. Councilors should refer complaints or questions to the City Manager or the 
appropriate staff person.

Conferences and Seminars 
Members of the Council are urged to educate themselves about local government news, 
legislative issues and best practices. To that end, and as funding allows, Councilors are urged to 
attend the League of Oregon Cities functions. Requests to attend other government related 
conferences, training seminars and meetings will be presented to the Council for approval. 
Members of the Council who serve on committees or the boards of the League of Oregon Cities, 
the National League of Cities or other such government groups will be reimbursed for 
reasonable expenses not covered by the respective body. If a member of the Council is retiring 
and serves on a League of Oregon Cities, National League of Cities or other such government 
group committee or board and is expected to attend a meeting, conference or seminar, the 
approved expenses not covered by the respective body will be reimbursed by the City. Upon 
the Councilor’s return from attending a conference, training seminar or meeting, the Council or 
attending the conference, training, seminar or meeting  will give a report to all members of the 
Council unless the majority attended the same function, or if requested by any Councilor who 
did not attend the conference, training, seminar or meeting.

Confidentiality
Councilors will keep all written materials provided to them on matters of confidentiality under 
law in complete confidence to insure that the City’s position is not compromised. No mention 
of  confidential information read or heard should be made to anyone other than other 

Page 51 of 71



Page 6      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Councilors, the City Manager or City Attorney.

A. If the Council in executive session provides direction or consensus to staff on 
proposed terms and conditions for any type of negotiation whether it be related to property 
acquisition or disposal, pending or likely claim of litigation, or employee negotiations, all 
contact with other parties shall be made by designated staff or representatives handling the 
negotiations or litigation. A Councilor will not have any contact or discussion with any other 
party or its representative nor communicate any executive session discussion.

B. All public statements, information, or press releases relating to a confidential matter 
will be handled by designated staff or a designated Councilor.

C. The Council, by resolution, may censure a member who discloses a confidential 
matter.

Conflict of Interest
Generally, conflicts of interest arise in situations where a Councilor, as a public official 
deliberating in a quasi-judicial proceeding, has an actual or potential financial interest in the 
matter before the Council. Under state law, an actual conflict of interest is defined as one that 
would be to the private financial benefit of the Councilor, a relative or a business with which 
the Councilor or relative is associated. A potential conflict of interest is one that could be to the 
private financial benefit of the Councilor, a relative or a business with which the Councilor or 
relative is associated. A relative means the spouse, children, siblings or parents of the public 
official or public official’s spouse. A Councilor must publicly announce potential and actual 
conflicts of interest, and, in the case of an actual conflict of interest, must refrain from 
participating in debate on the issue or from voting on the issue.

Consent Agenda
In order to make more efficient use of meeting time, the City Manager shall place all items of a 
routine nature on which no debate is expected on a consent agenda. Any item placed on the 
consent agenda shall be disposed of by a single motion “to  the consent agenda” which shall 
not be debatable.  Any Councilor may remove an item from the consent agenda.  An item 
removed from the consent agenda shall not receive public testimony unless agreed to by a 
majority of the Council.

Page 52 of 71



Page 7      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Council Rules
The Council shall review its rules at least once every year. Amendments shall be adopted by a 
majority vote. The Council has an obligation to be clear and simple in its procedures and 
consideration of the questions coming before it. The Council rules are not intended to replace 
or supersede any applicable federal or state laws or regulations, City ordinances or policies, or 
provisions of the City Charter.

Emergency Meetings
A special meeting may be called by the Mayor or through the request of three members of the 
Council. All available Council members will be notified, and the meeting will be held at a time 
between three and 48 hours after the notice is given. The City shall attempt to contact the 
media and other interested persons to inform them of the meeting. Councilors are responsible 
to inform staff of how they can be reached when out of town.

Executive Sessions 
An executive session (meeting closed to the public) may be held in accordance with the 
appropriate statutory limits of ORS 192.640. Care will be taken to ensure that proper and timely 
notice is made in accordance with statutory requirements. Executive sessions may be held 
during regular or special meetings, so long as appropriate statutory limitations are met.

A. No formal actions can be taken during an executive session. When the Council 
reconvenes in open session, formal action may be taken. Only the Council, City 
Attorney,specific staff members, agents of the City authorized by Council and news media 
representatives may attend executive sessions (see also News Media). Members of the press 
must be told that they may not report the substance of an executive session.

B. The primary reason for allowing members of the news media to attend such sessions 
is to keep them informed concerning the background of deliberations so they have a better 
understanding of any decisions made as a result of the meeting. As determined by the Council, 

Page 53 of 71



Page 8      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

minutes may be taken or, in the alternative, a sound recording of the meeting may be made as 
provided for in ORS 192.650(2). Material discussed during an executive sessions should not be 
disclosed, as provided in ORS 192.610 and 192.660.

C. The topic areas for which an executive session may be called consist of all items listed 
in ORS 192.660, including the following:

1. To consider the employment of a public officer, employee, staff member, or 
individual agent. This applies only to the employment of specific individuals. ORS 192.660 (a)

2. To consider the dismissal or disciplining of, or to hear complaints or charges 
against a public officer, employee, staff member, or individual agent, unless the individual 
requests an open hearing. ORS 192.660 (b)

3. To deliberate with persons designated by the governing body to carry on labor 
negotiations. ORS 192.660 (d)

4. To deliberate with persons designated by the governing body to negotiate real 
property transactions. ORS 192.660 (e)

5. To consider records exempt by law from public inspections. ORS 192.660 (f)

6. To consider preliminary negotiations involving matters of trade or commerce 
in which the governing body is in competition with governing bodies in other states or nations. 
ORS 192.660 (g)

7. To consult with counsel concerning legal rights and duties with regard to 
current litigation or litigation likely to be filed. ORS 192.660 (h)

8. To review and evaluate the employment related performance of the chief 
executive officer, a public officer, employee, or staff member unless the person whose 
performance is being reviewed and evaluated requests an open hearing. ORS 192.660 (i )

Exhibits
Exhibits presented before the Council in connection with its deliberations on a legislative, quasi-
judicial or other substantive matter shall be accepted by the Council and made part of the 
record. The exhibit shall be marked for identification and referenced in the minutes. The exhibit 
or a copy thereof shall be provided to the meeting recorder.

Page 54 of 71



Page 9      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Ex Parte Contacts and Disqualification 
For quasi-judicial hearings, Councilors will endeavor to refrain from having ex parte contacts 
relating to any issue of the hearing. Ex parte contacts generally include a communication on a 
fact in issue is the quasi-judicial hearing under circumstances which do not involve all parties to 
the proceeding. Ex parte contacts can be made orally or in writing when one or neither party is 
present,   and includes any information that  a Councilor receives  outside the scope of the 
public hearing.

A. If a Councilor has ex parte contact prior to any hearing, the Councilor shall reveal this 
contact at the meeting and prior to the hearing. The Councilor shall describe the substance of 
the contact and the presiding officer shall announce the right of interested persons to rebut the 
substance of the communication. The Councilor also will state whether such contact affects the 
Councilor’s impartiality or ability to vote on the matter. The Councilor must state whether he or 
she will participate or abstain.

B. For quasi-judicial hearings, a Councilor may be disqualified from the hearing due to ex 
parte contacts by a 60 percent vote of the Council. . The Councilor disqualified shall not 
participate in the debate, shall step down from the dais and leave the Council Chambers for 
that portion of the meeting, and cannot vote on that motion,  provided that the Councilor may 
participate in the proceeding as a private citizen if the Councilor is a party with standing

Expenses and Reimbursement 
Councilors will follow the same rules and procedures for reimbursement as those which apply 
to City employees, as set forth in the policy manual. Councilor expenditures for non-routine 
reimbursable expenses (e.g., conference registration, travel, etc.) will require advance Council 
approval according to the purchasing rules which apply City wide.

A. The Councilor who will be traveling should make his or her own reservations for 
travel and lodging. The City will issue the appropriate purchase order/ expenditure upon 
request and approval by the City Manager.

B. The City does not reimburse Councilors for expenses incurred by their spouses, 
children, or others traveling with the councilor. (Oregon Government Standards and Practices 
Commission Advisory Opinion 93A-1007)

Page 55 of 71



Page 10      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Filling Vacancies on the Council
Upon declaring a vacancy on the City Council, the Council will fill the vacancy by appointment as 
provided under the terms of the City Charter. The vacancy will be advertised and applications 
will be filed through the City Recorder’s Office. After the filing deadline has passed the Council 
will conduct public interviews of all applicants. The Council will make a decision to fill the 
vacancy in a public meeting adhering to ORS 192.

Filling Vacancies on Advisory Boards 
and Commissions 
When a vacancy occurs on any Advisory Board or Commission the City Manager shall cause 
applications to be filed by all interested candidates. All applications will go to the City Recorder.

A.  Applications for Budget Committee, Planning Commission and Arts Commission will be 
forwarded to the council, and a date set for interviews and appointment of the 
positions.   All deliberations and votes are to be held in a noticed public meeting in 
accordance with Chapter 192 of the Oregon Revised Statute.

B.  Applications for Advisory Boards will go to the staff member in charge.  Time will be set 
aside on a meeting agenda for discussion and recommendation of applicants by the 
other members of the specific Board which the individual is applying for membership.  
All deliberations and vote are to be held in a  noticed public meeting in accordance with 
Chapter 192 of the Oregon Revised Statute.   The staff member in charge will bring 
recommendations to the council for approval.  

Page 56 of 71



Page 11      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

 OPERATION OF ADVISORY BOARDS - 
See ADMIN Policy 2018-01

Flags, Signs and Posters
To prevent interference with the vision or hearing of attendees, no person, other than the City , 
may place, carry or otherwise bring into the Council chambers and flags, posters, placards, 
signs, or other similar materials unless authorized by the Mayor, during any such time in, which 
the Council is holding a meeting.  The Mayor will grant permission for such materials to be 
brought into the Council chambers if they will not interfere with the vision or hearing of other 
persons at the meeting or pose  a safety hazard.

Gifts
On occasion, and within the approved budget, the Council may wish to purchase a gift or 
memento for someone with City funds. Expenditures of this type should receive prior approval 
from the Mayor.

Oregon Government Ethics Commission 
Councilors shall review and observe the requirements of the State Ethics Law (ORS 244.010 to 
244.390) dealing with use of public office for private financial gain.

A. Councilors shall give public notice of any conflict of interest or potential conflicts of 
interest and the notice will be reported in the meeting minutes. In addition to matters of 
financial interest, Councilors shall maintain the highest standards of ethical conduct and assure 
fair and equal treatment of all persons, claims, and transactions coming before the Council. This 
general obligation includes the duty to refrain from:

1. Disclosing confidential information or making use of special knowledge or 
information before it is made available to the general public.

Page 57 of 71



Page 12      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

2. Making decisions involving business associates, customers, clients, and 
competitors.

3. Repeated violations of Council Rules.

4. Promoting relatives, clients or employees for boards and commissions.

5. Requesting preferential treatment for themselves, relatives, associates, 
clients, coworkers or friends.

6. Seeking employment of relatives with the City.

7. Actions benefiting special interest groups at the expense of the City as a 
whole.

8. Expressing an opinion which is contrary to the official position of the Council 
without so stating.

B. In general, Councilors shall conduct themselves so as to bring credit upon the 
government of the City by respecting the rule of law, ensuring non-discriminatory delivery of 
public services, keeping informed concerning the matters coming before the Council and 
abiding by all decisions of the Council, whether or not the member voted on the prevailing side.

C. In accordance with ORS 244.050, it is the Councilor’s responsibility to file annual 
statements of economic interest with the Oregon Government Ethics Commission. Each year, 
on or around the 1st of April, Councilors will be sent a Statement of Economic Interest form 
from the Commission. Councilors should complete the form and return it directly to the 
Commission in the manner required by the Commission. It is important to complete the form in 
a timely manner; failure to do so may result in the imposition of a civil penalty and/or removal 
from office. Councilors are also responsible for filing a Supplemental Statement of Economic 
Interest with the Government Commission within 30 days of leaving office.

Legal Advice
 Requests to the City Attorney for advice requiring legal research shall not be made by a 
Councilor except with the concurrence of the Council. Before requesting research or other 
action by the City Attorney, the Council is encouraged to consider consulting with the City 
Manager to ascertain whether the request or action can be accomplished more cost-effectively 
by alternate means. Outside a Council meeting, a Councilor should make requests of the City 
Attorney through the City Manager. Exceptions to this are issues related to the performance of 
the City Manager. The City Attorney shall in either case provide any written response to the full 
Council and City Manager, unless the response is about the City Manager

Page 58 of 71



Page 13      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Liaison to Advisory Boards, 
Commissions and Committees
To facilitate the exchange of information between the Council and its advisory bodies and 
standing committees, the Mayor will, at least biennially, make liaison and membership 
appointments to City boards, commissions and committees. In order to respect the separation 
between policy making and advisory boards, commissions and committees, Councilors assigned 
as a liaison to advisory boards and committees shall adhere to the following guidelines:

A.  Provide the entity with information, requests for advice and requests for feedback on 
items of interest to the council at large.

B. Remember it is important for the Advisory Board, Commission or Committee to feel free 
to make objective recommendations to the council.  This allows Council to hear from 
citizens and gain different perspectives.

C. Councilor Liaisons do not, chair, co-chair or have a vote.
D. Primary role of this position is to bring information back and forth between the board, 

commission, or committee and City Council.

Litigation 
Within 30 days of the City’s receipt of:

A. A statutory notice of intent to sue, or 

B. A summons and complaint for damages. 

The Council will either receive a written report, or will meet in executive session with the City 
Manager to discuss options regarding the litigation.

Page 59 of 71



Page 14      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Meeting Staffing 
The City Manager will attend all Council meetings unless excused. The City Manager may make 
recommendations to the Council and shall have the right to take part in all Council discussions, 
but shall have no vote. The City Attorney will attend the first Council meeting of the month 
unless excused, and will, upon request, give an opinion, either written or oral, on legal 
questions. The City Attorney, if requested, shall act as the Council’s parliamentarian. The City 
Manager shall designate a staff member or contract with a person to serve as a meeting 
recorder who will attend all Council meetings and keep the official journal (minutes) and 
perform such other duties as may be needed for the orderly conduct of meetings. Department 
heads or other staff will attend Council meetings upon request of the City Manager.

Meeting Times
The Council shall meet regularly at 7:00 p.m. on the first and third Monday of each month in 
the Council Chambers. Such meetings may be preceded by a work session which shall be open 
to the public. Workshops are scheduled as needed and with permission of the Mayor.

Minutes
Minutes shall be prepared with sufficient detail to meet their intended uses. Verbatim minutes 
are not required.

A. The minutes of meetings of the Council shall comply with provisions of ORS 192.650 
by containing the following information at a minimum: 

1. The name of Councilors and staff present.

2. All motions, proposals, resolutions, orders, ordinances and measures 
proposed and their disposition.

3. The result of any votes, including ayes and nays and the names of the 
Councilors who voted.

4. The substance of the discussion on any matter.

5. Reference to any document discussed at the meeting.

Page 60 of 71



Page 15      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

B. The Council may amend the minutes to more accurately reflect what transpired at a 
meeting. Upon receipt of the minutes in the Council agenda packet, the Council members 
should read and submit any changes, additions or corrections to the City Manager so that a 
corrected copy can be issued prior to the meeting for approval. Under no circumstances shall 
the minutes be changed following approval by the Council, unless the Council authorizes such a 
change.

Motions 
When a motion is made, it shall be clearly and concisely stated by its mover. Councilors are 
encouraged to exercise their ability to make motions and to do so prior to debate in order to 
focus discussion on an issue and speed the Council’s proceedings. The Presiding Officer will 
state the name of the Councilor who made the motion and the name of the Councilor who 
seconded the motion. When the Council concurs or agrees to an item that does not require a 
formal motion, the Presiding Officer will summarize the agreement at the conclusion of 
discussion. The following rules shall apply to motions during proceedings of the Council:

A. A motion may be withdrawn by the mover at any time without the consent of the 
Council.

B. If a motion does not receive a second, the motion dies. Certain motions can proceed 
without a second, including nominations, withdrawal of motion and agenda order.

C. A motion that receives a tie vote fails.

D. A motion to table is not debatable unless made during a land-use hearing and 
precludes all amendments or debate of the issue under consideration. If the motion prevails, 
the matter may be taken from the table only by adding it to the agenda of the next regular 
meeting at which time discussion will continue. If an item is tabled, it cannot be reconsidered at 
the same meeting.

E. A motion to postpone to a certain time is debatable and amendable, and may be 
reconsidered at the same meeting. The question being postponed must be considered at a later 
time at the same meeting or no later than the next meeting.

F. A motion to postpone indefinitely is debatable and is not amendable and may be 
reconsidered at the same meeting only if it received an affirmative vote. The object of this 
motion is not to postpone, but to reject the question without risking a direct vote when the 
maker of this motion is in doubt as to the outcome of the question.

G. A motion to call for the question shall close debate on the main motion. A second 

Page 61 of 71



Page 16      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

motion to call for the question is undebatable. Debate is reopened if the motion fails.

H. A motion to amend can be made to a motion that is on the floor and has been 
seconded. An amendment is made by inserting or adding, striking out, striking out and 
inserting, or substituting.

I. Motions that cannot be amended include motion to adjourn, agenda order, lay on the 
table, reconsideration, and take from the table.

J. A motion to amend an amendment is not in order.

K. Amendments are voted on first, then the main motion as amended.

L. Council will discuss a motion only after the motion has been moved and seconded.

M. The motion maker, Presiding Officer, or meeting recorder should repeat the motion 
prior to voting.

N. A motion to continue or close a public hearing is debatable.

O. A point of order, after being addressed by the Presiding Officer, may be appealed to 
the body.

News Media
The Council recognizes the important role of the news media in informing the public about the 
decisions, activities and priorities of government. See also Executive Sessions. The terms “news 
media” “press” and “representative of the press” for the purpose of these rules are 
interchangeable and mean someone who:

A. Represents an established channel of communication, such as a newspaper or 
magazine, radio or television station, blog or internet social media site; and either

B. Regularly reports on the activities of government or the governing body; or

C. Regularly reports on the particular topic to be discussed by the governing body in 
executive session.

Order and Decorum 
A law enforcement officer of the City may be Sergeant-at-Arms of the Council meetings. The 

Page 62 of 71



Page 17      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Sergeant-at-Arms shall carry out all orders and instructions given by the Mayor for the purposes 
of maintaining order and decorum at the Council meeting. If the Sergeant-at-Arms determines 
that the actions of any person who violates the order

and decorum of the meeting or constitutes a violation of any provision of the Sandy Municipal 
Code, in a manner that actually interferes with the Council’s ability to conduct business, the 
Sergeant-at-Arms may place such person under arrest and cause such person to be prosecuted 
under the provisions of the Municipal Code, or take other appropriate action as outlined in the 
Sandy Official Police Manual Revised.

A. Any of the following, if they cause an actual disruption of the meeting so as to 
preclude the Council from conducting its business  shall be sufficient cause for the Sergeant-at-
Arms to, at the direction of the Mayor, or by a majority of the Council present, remove any 
person from the Council chamber for the duration of the meeting:

1. Use of unreasonably loud or disruptive language.

2. Making of loud or disruptive noise, including applause.

3. Engaging in violent or distracting action.

4. Willful injury of furnishings or of the interior of the Council chambers.

5. Refusal to obey the rules of conduct provided herein, including the limitations 
on occupancy and seating capacity.

6. Refusal to obey an order of the Mayor or an order issued by a Councilor which 
has been approved by a majority of the Council present.

B. Before the Sergeant-at-Arms is directed to remove any person from a Council 
meeting for conduct described in this section, that person shall be given a warning by the 
Mayor to cease his or her conduct. C.  The Mayor or a majority of the Council may take any 
lawful action necessary to maintain order and decorum as necessary for Council to conduct its 
business.

Order of Business 
The order of business at a regular Council meeting may be as follows:

A. Call to Order 

B. Public Comments. 

C. Proclamations and Recognitions from Council.

 D. Business Meeting.

Page 63 of 71



Page 18      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

1. Public Hearings 

2. Ordinances and Resolutions 

3. Council Policy Issues

 4. Other Business 

5. Consent Agenda

6.  Council Committee Reports

A. Meeting Minutes for Advisory Boards, Committees and Commissions to 
be attached to agenda

E. Report from the City Manager.

F. Business from the Council.

Ordinance Reading and Adoption
All ordinances and resolutions shall be prepared under the supervision of the City Manager and 
reviewed as to form by the City Attorney. Ordinances and resolutions may be introduced by a 
member of the Council, the City Manager, the City Attorney or any department head.

A. Unless the motion for adoption provides otherwise, resolutions shall be adopted by 
reference to the title only and effective upon adoption.

B. The Council may adopt an ordinance in any of the following circumstances:

1. Before being considered for adoption, the ordinance has been read in full at 
two separate Council meetings;

2. At a single meeting, without objection and by unanimous vote of the whole 
Council, after being read once in full and once by title only;

3. At a single meeting, if copies are provided to each Councilor and three copies 
are available for public inspection one week before the first reading.

C. Ordinances shall be effective on the thirtieth (30th) day following the date of 
adoption, unless the ordinance provides that it will become effective at a later time. An 
emergency ordinance shall become effective upon adoption when it includes a provision that 
the ordinance is necessary for immediate preservation of the public peace, property, health, or 
safety. 

D. Councilors can call for a roll-call vote on any ordinance or resolution, otherwise they 
may be adopted by the provisions outlined in the city charter.

Page 64 of 71



Page 19      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Planning Commission Testimony
The Planning Commission was established in compliance with state statute to make 
recommendations to the City Council on general land use issues and to act as a hearing body 
for the City. In an effort to maintain the impartiality of the Planning Commission, especially in 
cases where issues can be remanded by the City Council back to the Planning Commission for 
review, the following rules are established. For legislative land use matters before the Council, 
Commissioners may testify as a Commissioner, as a Commissioner representative if so 
designated by the Commissioner, or as a citizen. For quasi-judicial hearings or petitions for 
review before the Council, Commission members, who have participated in the proceeding 
Commission decision, may not testify before the Council on the respective matter.

Presiding Officer
The Mayor shall be the Presiding Officer and conduct all meetings, preserve order, enforce the 
rules of the Council and determine the order and length of discussion on any matter before the 
Council, subject to these rules. The Council President shall preside in the absence of the Mayor. 
The Presiding Officer shall not be deprived of any of the rights and privileges of a Councilor. In 
case of the absence of the Mayor and the Council President, the City Manager shall call the 
meeting to order and the Council shall elect a chairperson for that meeting by majority vote.

Public Members Addressing the Council
A. When called by the Presiding Officer, those wishing to address the Council shall come 

to the designated area and state their name and address in an audible tone. They shall limit 
their remarks to five minutes unless the Council decides prior to a particular agenda item to 
allocate more or less time. They shall address all remarks to the Council as a body and not to 
any member thereof.

B. No person, other than the Council and the person having the floor, shall be permitted 
to enter into any discussion, either directly or through a member of the Council, without the 
permission of the Mayor. Questions from the public shall be asked of a Councilor or staff 

Page 65 of 71



Page 20      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

member through the Mayor. No public member will be allowed to speak more than once on a 
particular agenda item.

C. Any person making personal, offensive, or slanderous remarks, or who become 
boisterous, threatening, or personally abusive while addressing the Council may be requested 
to leave the meeting. The Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all meetings of the 
Council, to cause the removal of any person from any meeting for disorderly conduct consistent 
with the terms of these rules and applicable laws and to enforce the rules of the Council. The 
Mayor may request the assistance of the  Sergeant-at-Arms to restore order at any meeting. 

Public Hearings
A. Legislative Hearings:

1. The Mayor shall announce prior to each public hearing the nature of the 
matter to be heard as it is set forth on the agenda.

2. Discussion of conflict of interest of the Sandy City Council and Councilors.

3. The Mayor will then declare the hearing to be open and invite members of the 
audience to be heard in the following order:

a. Staff introduction of topic.

b. Correspondence. 

c. Persons wishing to speak on the matter.

4. The Mayor will call for the staff report.

5. Close the public hearing.

6. Council deliberation and vote.

B. Quasi-Judicial Hearing: Conduct of quasi-judicial hearings shall conform to the 
requirements of ORS 197.763 and the Sandy Development Code including, but not limited to 
the following:

1. The Mayor shall announce prior to opening the hearing the nature of the 
matter to be heard as it is set forth on the agenda and the procedure to be followed for the 
hearing.

2. The Mayor shall give notice that failure to address a criterion or raise any 
other issue with sufficient specificity precludes an appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals on 
that criterion or issue.

3. Discussion of jurisdiction and impartiality of the Sandy City Council and 

Page 66 of 71



Page 21      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Councilors.

4. Staff introduction of appeal.

5. Correspondence.

6. Appellant’s presentation.

7. Other testimony in support of the appeal.

8. Applicant’s testimony, if appropriate.

9. Opponent’s testimony.

10. Neutral testimony.

11. Staff report and recommendation.

12. Appellant’s rebuttal testimony.

13. Applicant’s rebuttal testimony.

14. Upon demonstration of new evidence presented during applicant’s rebuttal, 
any participant may petition the presiding officer for an opportunity to present sur-
rebuttal.

15. Questions from the Council to staff.

16. Closure of public hearing, no further information from the audience.

17. Discussion by Council and decision.

18. Council has the discretion to adopt findings or direct the staff or prevailing 
party to submit proposed findings for Council consideration and adoption at a future meeting. If 
adoption of findings is postponed to allow staff or prevailing party to submit findings, Council 
will allow written comments on the findings only by both proponents and opponents prior to 
adoption.

C. If there are objections to the jurisdiction of the City Council to hear a matter, the 
Mayor shall terminate the hearing if the inquiry results in substantial evidence that the Council 
lacks jurisdiction or the procedural requirements of any code or ordinance provision were not 
met.

D.  For quasi-judicial hearings, a Councilor who was absent during the presentation of 
evidence cannot participate in any deliberations or decision regarding the matter unless the 
Councilor has reviewed all the evidence and testimony received.

Page 67 of 71



Page 22      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Public Records
 The disposition of public records created or received by Councilors shall be in accordance with 
Oregon Public Records Law. Written information incidental to the official duties of a member of 
the City Council, including electronic mail messages, notes, memos and calendars (e.g., 
“Daytimers”) are public records and are subject to disclosure under the Public Records Law.

Questioning of Staff by Council 
Members 
Every Council member desiring to question staff during a Council meeting shall address the 
questions to the City Manager, who shall be entitled to either answer the inquiry or designate a 
staff member to do so.

Quorum 
The quorum requirement for the conduct of Council business is a majority of  Council members.

Reconsideration of Actions Taken
A member who voted with the majority may move for a reconsideration of an action at the 
same or the next regular meeting. The second of a motion may be a member of the minority. 
Once a matter has been reconsidered, no motion for further reconsideration shall be made 
without unanimous consent of the Council.

Representing the City
When a member of the City Council represents the City before another governmental agency, 
before a community organization or media, the official should first indicate the majority 

Page 68 of 71



Page 23      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

position of the Council. Personal opinions and comments may be expressed only if the 
Councilor clarifies that those statements do not represent the position of the Council.

A. The effectiveness of City lobbying in Salem or in Washington, D.C. depends on the 
clarity of the City’s voice. When Councilors represent the City in a “lobbying” situation, it is 
appropriate that the Councilors avoid expressions of personal dissent from an adopted Council 
policy.

B. When Councilors attend meetings of organizations such as the League of Oregon 
Cities or the National League of Cities and their boards and committees, they do so as individual 
elected officials and are free to express their individual views. If the City Council has an adopted 
policy relating to an issue under discussion, the Councilor is expected to report that fact.

Speaking by Council Members
 Any Councilor desiring to be heard shall be recognized by the Mayor, but shall confine his or 
her remarks to the subject under consideration or to be considered. Councilors will be direct 
and candid. Councilors will speak one at a time with proper decorum and respect for other 
councilors..

Special Meetings 
The Mayor, or in the Mayor’s absence, the President of the Council, may, or, at the request of 
two members of the Council, shall call a special meeting for the Council.

A. Written notice of a special meeting shall be given each member of the Council at least 
24 hours in advance of the meeting. The notice shall be served on each member personally or 
electronically, or if the Councilor is not found, left at his or her place of residence. All notice 
requirements of ORS 192.640 shall be satisfied before any special meeting can be conducted.

B. Special meetings of the Council may also be held at any time by common consent of 
all members of the Council subject to notice requirements being met. Councilors shall keep the 
City Manager informed of their current telephone numbers.

Suspension of Rules. These rules may be suspended at any time upon majority vote of a 
quorum of the Council.

Page 69 of 71



Page 24      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Televising of Council Meetings
 Acknowledging that the citizenry of Sandy is generally a sophisticated and interested viewing 
audience, regular business meetings of the Council will be covered gavel-to-gavel live on the 
City’s YouTube Channel. Videotapes will not be kept.

A. To enhance viewer interest and understanding of the subject matter, televised 
meetings of the Council shall, whenever practical, employ the highest technical quality and 
techniques, such as multiple camera angles and informational captioning.

B. It is intended that Council meetings be televised in an unbiased, even-handed 
manner, using camera shots that are appropriate for individual Councilors, witnesses and 
audience members and are relevant to the discussion.

C. Video and audio shall be deleted only for the purpose of conforming with applicable 
laws governing public broadcasts. Editing for the above purpose and for the insertion of 
informational titles and graphics will be allowed. Portions of videotaped Council meetings may 
be used in other news and informational broadcasts provided they are not portrayed out of 
context.

D. Regular business meetings of the Council shall be streamed live via YouTube.

Voting
Every Councilor, when a question is taken, shall vote unless a majority of the Council present, 
for special reason, shall excuse said person.

A. No Councilor shall be permitted to vote on any subject in which he or she has a 
conflict of interest.

B. The concurrence of majority of the Council members present at a Council meeting 
shall be necessary to decide any question before the Council.  In the event of a tie vote, the 
matter before the Council shall be a NO vote.

Work Sessions
Work sessions of the City Council shall be held in accordance with the Oregon Public Meetings 

Page 70 of 71



Page 25      Council Rules - Updated June 2018

Law (ORS 192.610). Whenever circumstances require such a session, it shall be called by either 
the Mayor, City Manager, or two Councilors.

Page 71 of 71


	Agenda
	5.1. Ordinance 2018-03 - Amending Sandy Municipal Code 8.35.010 - Pdf
	Output Document (2018-30) - Pdf

	6.1. Council Rules Update - Pdf
	Council Rules with Edits


